Uldaho Law

Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

3-21-2017

Herrett v. St. Luke's Magic Valley Regional Medical Center, Ltd. Appellant's Brief Dckt. 44567

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

Defendant, St. Luke's Magic Valley Regional Medical Center (St. Luke's) appeals from a jury verdict in a medical malpractice case. St. Luke's admitted that a nurse breached the standard of care in caring for the plaintiff, Joyce Herrett, resulting in a stroke. The dispute centers around the extent of damage caused by the stroke, and whether the nurse's conduct was reckless. St. Luke's filed a motion for mistrial because the trial court allowed a medical expert opinion from a Dr. Wiggins that had not been properly disclosed prior to trial, violating Idaho's discovery rules and the court's pretrial order. In ruling on the mistrial, the trial court found that Dr. Wiggins had not been properly disclosed and her opinions were not provided during pretrial, discovery, the rules and the court's order had been violated, and St. Luke's was prejudiced, but refused to grant the mistrial and allowed the case to proceed. The trial court also: (1) allowed undisclosed opinions from another expert, (2) did not use the pattern jury instruction defining recklessness, thus allowing the jury to find recklessness based on an incorrect standard, and (3) did not require adequate medical foundation for a life care planner who calculated future medical care damages. These grave errors necessitate a new trial.

B. Course of Proceedings

On February 9, 2015, Rodney and Joyce Herrett filed a complaint against St. Luke's. R. p. 16. The complaint alleged four counts: (1) Negligence/Gross Negligence/Reckless Conduct; (2) Corporate Negligence; (3) Lack of Informed Consent; and (4) Attorney's Fees. R. pp. 16-22. On May 21, 2015, St. Luke's answered, R. pp. 23-29, denying the allegations, and asserting that the damages Mrs. Herrett suffered were either the result of her pre-existing medical conditions, or were not proximately caused by the nurse's actions. St. Luke's denied that the claims for corporate negligence or lack of informed consent could be asserted. The Herretts later dropped

those two claims. R. pp. 52-53 and pp. 380-381(informed consent); Tr. p. 149, Ll. 18-25 (corporate negligence). St. Luke's admitted that their employee, Nurse Wentz, breached the standard of care. The case proceeded to determine (1) the proper amount of damages, and (2) whether the conduct was reckless. The parties filed numerous motions *in limine*, and the court entered an order addressing the evidentiary issues. R., pp. 1014-1020. During trial, after the denial of St. Luke's motion for mistrial and a motion for directed verdict, R. pp. 1073-1083 and 1141-1149, the case was submitted to the jury, and the jury found in favor of the Herretts. R. pp. 1160-1169. The jury found that Nurse Wentz's actions were reckless, and a judgment for \$3,850,004.83 was entered on July 14, 2016. R. p. 1199-1200. On September 7, 2016, after post-trial motions seeking contractual adjustments, an Amended Judgment was entered for \$3,775,864.21. R., p. 319. St. Luke's filed this appeal on August 19, 2016. R. pp. 1201-1206.

C. Statement of Facts

On December 24, 2013, Mrs. Herrett suffered a stroke due to an air embolism being released into her bloodstream, caused by a mistake in the method used to remove a tube from her neck. Tr. p. 234.

Prior to December 24, 2013, Mrs. Herrett had numerous prior illnesses, injuries and complications that had nothing to do with the December 2013 stroke. She had cervical cancer in approximately 1988 and had her uterus removed. Tr. p. 411, Ll. 14-24. Due to radiation damage, her left kidney was removed, her gallbladder removed, her appendix removed, her bladder removed, and her colon removed necessitating both a urostomy and a colostomy, and a condition known as short bowel syndrome. Tr. p. 411, Ll. 14-24; Tr. p. 415, Ll. 2-10 Tr. p. 293; Ll. 17-25. She had had a previous stroke in 2003 that had resulted in right sided weakness, Tr. p. 281, L. 2-p. 283, L. 4 and caused her to have difficulty with memory. Tr. p. 281, Ll. 22-p. 282, L. 11. Mrs. Herrett had a blood clotting disorder. Tr. p. 281, Ll. 13-15. She suffered from significant kidney

disease in her one remaining kidney and had been diagnosed with Stage 3 kidney disease, including episodes of acute renal failure. Tr. p. 285, Ll. 3-8; Tr. p. 412, Ll. 3-4. Prior to the 2013 stroke, she was also chronically fatigued. Tr. p. 295, Ll. 20-25. Mrs. Herrett suffered from anxiety. Tr. p. 297, Ll. 4-6. She had numerous other medical conditions and symptoms through the years leading up to 2013, that resulted in treatment, including sepsis, depression, significant hip pain, vitamin deficiencies, chronic pain, numerous infections, short-term memory loss, panic attacks, double vision, weakness, etc. Tr. p. 285, L. 25-p. 286, L. 2, Tr. p. 286, Ll. 10-21; p. 292, Ll. 10-25; p. 293, Ll. 17-21; p. 294, Ll. 5-22; Tr. p. 297, Ll. 4-6; Tr. p. 416, Ll. 1-25.

Mrs. Herrett's December 2013 hospitalization resulted from acute renal failure and severe septic shock and was complicated by her many other medical conditions. Tr. p. 297, L. 24-p. 298. L. 3; Tr. p. 298, Ll. 5-9. Her condition resulted in kidney failure, heart failure, and she nearly died. Tr. p. 297, L.23-p. 298, L. 19; Tr. p. 298, Ll. 10-19; Tr. p. 604, Ll. 7-16. She was in critical condition. Tr. p. 299, Ll. 11-13. St. Luke's medical team cared for Mrs. Herrett, and after about two weeks, she was transferred to the inpatient rehab center to recover. Tr. p. 436, Ll. 6-9; Tr. p. 579, L. 23-p. 580, L. 1. On December 24, 2013, she was well enough to be discharged to outpatient rehabilitation, and taken home. Tr. p. 434, Ll. 2-4; p. 581, Ll. 15-22.

When Mrs. Herrett was preparing to go home from the hospital, Mr. Herrett asked about removal of a central line or central venous catheter (CVC)¹. Tr. p. 436, Ll. 15-24. The nurse caring for her, Marilou Wentz, had never removed a CVC. Tr. p. 438, Ll. 9-12. The CVC is normally removed prior to transfer to inpatient rehab, so it was unusual to have such a line in a patient in that unit. Tr. p. 584, Ll. 13-23. Nurse. Wentz assumed the removal process was similar to removing an IV line, Tr. p. 472, Ll. 19-25; p. 473, Ll. 7-12, went to consult with another nurse

¹ A CVC is an entry port placed in Mrs. Herrett when she was in intensive care to allow for quick delivery of medication and liquid into her body. It had several ports. Tr. p. 584, Ll. 13-23.

on the floor, then returned with equipment, and began removing the line. Tr. p. 438, L. 17-0. 441, L. 18. Because of her training she thought she knew how to do this procedure, even though she had never done it, and she followed the required steps except that she neglected to lay Mrs. Herrett down. Tr. p. 464, Ll. 5-23. The removal of the CVC introduced an air embolism into Mrs. Herrett's body, and caused a stroke. Tr. p. 447, Ll. 16-24.

Mrs. Herrett was treated for the stroke at St. Luke's. Tr. p. 469, Ll. 17-25. She recovered from the effects of the stroke, and by mid-2014 was doing well. Tr. p. 606, Ll. 4-10; p. 607, Ll. 3-23; p. 615, Ll. 9-19. She had regained her strength and mobility, and was moving with only minimal assistance. Tr. p. 618, Ll. 3-16; p. 617, Ll. 3-25. Residual effects noted were some limits on her extended mobility, a right arm contracture, and some residual speech and language deficits. Dr. Wiggins specifically noted that by February 2014 Mrs. Herrett had made "extremely good progress," was getting around well and independently by April, and by June continued to be walking well and making good progress on rehabilitation goals. Tr. p. 606, Ll. 19-23; p. 615, Ll. 15-19; p. 617, Ll. 24-28; p. 618, Ll. 1-10; p. 619, Ll. 3-22.

However, in September/October, 2014 Mrs. Herrett was again hospitalized. Tr. p. 591, Ll. 15-25. The initial diagnosis was "failure to thrive" with indications that she was suffering from dehydration. Tr. p. 591, Ll. 21-25; p. 594, Ll. 24-25. She had lost weight, developed bed sores, and was becoming delusional. Tr. pp. 255-256. Medical staff determined that many of her medical issues were pre-morbid (caused by medical conditions that pre-existed the stroke) or because of non-stroke related issues. Tr. p. 603, Ll. 3-9 (dehydration had been an ongoing problem for 20 years); p. 621, Ll. 5-21; p. 623, Ll. 1-6 (metabolic encephalopathy); p. 623, Ll. 20-24 (vitamin deficiency); p. 624, Ll. 9-25 (urinary tract infection); p. 625, Ll. 13-19 (e coli infection).

II. ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

- The trial court erred in failing to grant a mistrial, despite finding that a court order and IRCP rules governing pretrial disclosure of expert testimony were violated, and St. Luke's was prejudiced.
 - o The trial court's efforts to allow other testimony or offer instruction to the jury were woefully inadequate to cure the prejudice.
 - Since the late disclosure prejudiced St. Luke's, happened during the middle of trial, and would have necessitated unavailable expert testimony to adequately rebut it, only a mistrial could have cured the error.
- The trial court erred in allowing a different expert witness to express expert opinions that were also not disclosed prior to trial in violation of pretrial orders.
- The trial court failed, as matter of law, to properly instruct the jury on the correct legal definition of recklessness in this context.
- The trial court erred in failing to exclude testimony from a life care planning expert on future medical costs, where the testimony lacked foundation, because there was no medical causation testimony to support it.

III. STANDARD OF REVIEW

In reviewing the district court's ruling on a motion for mistrial in a civil case, the court applies an abuse of discretion standard of review. *Ballard v. Kerr*, 2016 Ida. LEXIS 228, 378 P. 3d 464 (2016). The decision on whether to declare or deny a mistrial is within the discretion of the trial court if an occurrence at trial has prevented a fair trial. *Id. See also Van Brunt v. Stoddard*, 136 Idaho 681, 39 P.3d 621 (2001). To show an abuse of discretion in denying a mistrial, defendant must show that its rights were prejudiced. *Weinstein v. Prudential Property & Casualty Ins. Co.*, 149 Idaho 299, 233 P.3d 1221 (2010). Such discretionary decisions must be within the bounds of discretion and according to applicable legal principles. *See Edmunds v. Kraner*, supra, citing *Lamar Corp. v. City of Twin Falls*, 133 Idaho 36, 981 P. 2d 1146 (1999). The Supreme Court reviews orders regarding discovery sanctions under an abuse of discretion standard. *Easterling v. Kendall*, 159 Idaho 902, 367 P. 3d 1214, 1221 (2016). In applying the

abuse of discretion standard, the Court employs a three step inquiry, determining: (1) whether the lower court correctly perceived the issue as one of discretion; (2) whether the court acted within the boundaries of such discretion and consistently with any legal standards applicable to specific choices; and (3) whether the court reached its decision by an exercise of reason. *Mattox v. Life Care Centers of America, Inc.*, 157 Idaho 468, 473, 337 P.3d 627, 632 (2014) (quoting McDaniel v. Inland Northwest Renal Care Group-Idaho, LLC, 144 Idaho 219, 221- 22, 159 P.3d 856, 858-59 (2007)).

The propriety of a jury instruction is a question of law for the Supreme Court, and the Court exercises free review. *Ballard v. Kerr*, 2016 Ida. LEXIS 228, 378 P.3d 464 (2016). Reversal is appropriate where the instructions as a whole are misleading or prejudice a party's rights. *Id.*

A party may claim error in the admission of evidence where the ruling is "a manifest abuse of the trial court's discretion and a substantial right of the party is affected." Van v. Portneuf Med. Ctr., Inc., 156 Idaho 696, 701, 330 P.3d 1054, 1059 (2014).

IV. ARGUMENT

A. The Trial Court Erred by Failing to Grant a Motion for Mistrial, Despite a Finding that a Court Order and IRCP Rules Governing Pretrial Disclosure of Expert Testimony were Violated; St. Luke's was Prejudiced.

But we do not look favorably upon discretionary decisions by district judges that encourage last-minute witness disclosure and unreasonably prevent (parties) from responding, particularly in complex medical malpractice cases where experts will be furnishing the jury with the bulk of the necessary, and often technical, facts.

Edmunds v. Kraner, 142 Idaho 867, 873, 136 P.3d 338, 344 (2006).

A decade before the trial in this action, Chief Justice Burdick clearly identified the peril of ignoring expert witness disclosure rules in a medical malpractice case. A unanimous *Edmunds* Court noted that, although the decision to admit expert testimony may rest on a discretionary

decision, that discretion is not unlimited. The circumstances of disclosure must significantly limit the bounds of discretion. *Edmunds, supra*.

Objections based on failure to disclose an expert opinion can arise on summary judgment, during pretrial motions *in limine*, or at trial, and each step in the proceedings may require a different boundary for the court's discretion. This makes sense: the later the opinion is presented, the less likely the other party can respond through discovery, cross-examination, or preparation of other witnesses with opposing opinions. Thus, the later the undisclosed opinion appears, the greater the prejudice.

To preserve the right to a fair trial, the bounds of discretion are significantly more limited when an expert opinion is first disclosed at trial. While there may be a very rare case where prejudice does not result from such a mid-trial disclosure, examples are non-existent in Idaho case law after an exhaustive search. The Court must intervene to guide the lower courts by disapproving a trial court decision where: (1) there was a complete failure to disclose the potential expert witness testimony, (2) the testimony was elicited mid-trial, and (3) there was no opportunity for the opposing party to anticipate that the opinion would be offered, effectively cross-examine, or offer competent expert medical testimony to rebut the undisclosed opinion.

No Idaho precedent has allowed undisclosed expert testimony to be offered for the first time during trial. In fact, in a leading case, where expert testimony was introduced mid-trial despite lack of disclosure, this Court reversed and remanded for a new trial. *Radmer v. Ford Motor Co.*, 120 Idaho 86, 813 P.2d 897 (1991). Perhaps this is because the prejudice that flows from nondisclosed experts first offered during trial is palpable.

Expert testimony should have been excluded when, in defiance of a pretrial order, it was not disclosed prior to trial. Here, Dr. Wiggins was allowed to testify that Mrs. Herrett suffered a

devastating "secondary event" in Septe4mber 2014 resulting in continuing brain damage. Not only did the trial court here fail to exclude the testimony, the trial court allowed the witness to testify, and then expand on the testimony. In later ruling on a motion for mistrial, the trial court recognized that the opinion was not disclosed, that it was a medical malpractice case, and that St. Luke's was prejudiced, but refused to grant a mistrial. Instead the court rewarded the nondisclosure by anemic attempts to "cure" incurable prejudice.

1. Setting the Stage: The Pretrial Orders and Motions in Limine

First, we must fully set the stage by examining the course of events leading to this grave error. There is no question that the trial court ordered the parties to disclose any expert medical testimony to be presented at trial. The parties stipulated to a deadline for disclosing expert witnesses. R. p. 44.² The trial court issued an "Order Approving Stipulated Scheduling Order, Pretrial and Jury Notice" on July 17, 2015, thus requiring both parties to "disclose all information required by Rule 26(b)(4) of the Idaho Rules of Civil Procedure regarding expert witnesses." R. p. 48.

As this Court is well aware, Rule 26 requires experts and their opinions be fully

² This Court is very familiar with the expert disclosure rules, but for the convenience of the Court, these are the required disclosure rules for a "non-retained expert" like Dr. Wiggins, who was a treating physician:

⁽ii) What Must be Disclosed: Non-Retained Experts. For individuals with knowledge of relevant facts not acquired in preparation for trial and who have not been retained or specially employed to provide expert testimony in the case:

[•] a <u>statement of the subject matter</u> on which the witness is expected to present evidence under Rule 702, 703 or 705, Idaho Rules of Evidence, and

[•] a summary of the facts and opinions to which the witness is expected to testify.

I.R.C.P. 26(b)(4)(ii).

If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise.

Idaho Rules of Evidence 702.

The <u>facts or data</u> in the particular case upon which an expert bases an opinion or inference <u>may be those</u> perceived by or made known to the expert at or before the hearing. If of a type reasonably relied upon by experts in the particular field in forming opinions or inferences upon the subject, the facts or data need not be admissible in evidence in order for the opinion or inference to be admitted.

Idaho Rules of Evidence Rule 703.

disclosed. This includes, for non-retained experts, a <u>complete</u> statement of the <u>subject matter</u> of evidence to be presented, and all <u>facts</u> and <u>opinions</u> to which the witness is expected to testify. See footnote 2.

Following this scheduling order, both parties submitted numerous motions *in limine*. The district court granted some unrelated motions, saying:

"Both parties seek an order that precludes the presentation of expert testimony that has not been disclosed. The Court grants BOTH of these motions...In doing so, the result is no more than what the Court's scheduling order and case law requires. If there has not been compliance with the discovery rules by this time-one week prior to trial-there is no justification to permit the use of undisclosed evidence."

R. p. 1015. The court also recognized: "In making this ruling the Court is fully aware that trials should not be by 'ambush." R. p.1016.

2. Dr. Wiggins was identified, prior to trial, as merely a treating physician, who would testify about her treatment of Mrs. Herrett prior to and following the December 2013 stroke.

Despite these pretrial orders and rulings, Dr. Wiggins, a rehabilitation doctor, was disclosed by Plaintiffs only as a treating provider. The pretrial disclosure for Dr. Wiggins is very short and simply states:

Dr. Wiggins was one of Plaintiff's treating physicians and may be called to testify as to her findings and conclusions as set forth in her medical records including issues related to the removal of the central line catheter causing an air embolism which resulted in a venous embolic stroke. The doctor is expected to testify that the treatment provided as a result of the stroke was reasonable and necessary and that the improper removal of the CVC was a substantial contributing factor in causing the injury. To the extent that such testimony may constitute expert medical opinions, she is designated here as an expert witness, however, she is not retained in the usual sense of a consulting expert witness. At this time, this doctor is not being compensated as an expert.

See R., p. 66. The disclosure limited Dr. Wiggins' testimony to the rehabilitation treatment provided after Mrs. Herrett's December, 2013 stroke. The disclosure disclaimed her status as an

"expert" and limited her testimony. It did not detail any opinions, much less the facts and data relied upon. The disclosure did not mention testimony regarding any September 2014 event, causation of that event, interpretation of subsequent testing, continuing deterioration of the brain, or causation of any continued harm.

3. St. Luke's presented a defense that did not anticipate Dr. Wiggins' expert testimony.

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