Uldaho Law

Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

5-16-2017

Herrett v. St. Luke's Magic Valley Regional Medical Center, Ltd. Respondent's Brief Dckt. 44567

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

Tr. p. 785, LL. 9-22.

It is clear from the Court's discussion above that the only issue it thought needed addressed was something that Dr. Wiggins volunteered during her testimony. The Trial Court exercised its discretion in denying the motion for mistrial and allowed St. Luke's to discuss the encephalomalacia with its own expert on the witness stand and also gave an instruction to the jury.

d. St. Luke's misstates the Court's findings and cites to cases that are inapposite and bear no factual similarity to this case with respect to the admission of expert testimony

St. Luke's argument, at its heart, is that the Trial Court abused its discretion because I.R.C.P 26(b)(4)(A)(ii) required the Herretts to disclose that Dr. Wiggins would talk about encephalomalacia prior to trial, it was not contained in the written disclosure, and the Court allowed it anyway. To support this argument, St. Luke's draws upon cases such as *Edmunds v. Kraner*, 142 Idaho 867, 136 P.3d 338 (2006) and *Radmer v. Ford Motor Co.*, 120 Idaho 86, 813 P.2d 897 (1991). The problem with St. Luke's argument is the facts underlying these cases and the rationale asserted for reversing the lower court's discretionary decisions regarding paid expert testimony are completely inapposite to this case. St. Luke's argument also completely misstates the record in this case with respect to whether there was even a failure to disclose.

In *Edmunds*, the lower court struck plaintiffs' medical expert testimony and then granted summary judgment. 142 Idaho 867, 875, 136 P.3d 338, 346 (2006). The Supreme Court reversed the decision to strike expert testimony stating that, among other things, the Court "ignored that Idaho law and rules of civil procedure contemplate that expert opinions can change and develop during the course of litigation. ... Moreover, this decision was based on an incorrect understanding of discovery procedure." *Id*.

In *Radmer*, the trial court allowed an expert to testify, over objection, concerning a physical examination performed a few days before trial that was undisclosed and offered brandnew opinions concerning the cause of an accident that were contradictory to the opinions previously disclosed. 120 Idaho 86, 88, 813 P.2d 897, 899 (1991). Neither of those situations apply here. This is an undisputed liability case with significant damages. The specific diagnosis being complained about was scattered throughout the medical record and was being referenced by St. Luke's own treating physician. Contrary to the arguments from St. Luke's, the record is clear that the Trial Court understood the correct standard for considering a mistrial.

e. St. Luke's cannot claim surprise or prejudice because diagnosis of encephalomalacia and the fact that it was caused by the stroke is an undisputed medical fact

There is <u>no dispute</u> in this case that Mrs. Herrett was diagnosed by physicians working for St. Luke's as having encephalomalacia and that it was as a result of the stoke. The diagnosis appears all over the medical records used by both sides in this case. St. Luke's argument, *inter alia*, that it is the addition of the words 'continuing' or 'progressive' that somehow pushes Dr. Wiggins' redirect testimony into the objectionable realm falls flat for similar reasons. App. Brief, pp. 18-21.

Taken as a whole, Dr. Wiggins accurately described the diagnosis in the records. She testified that:

Encephalomalacia's basically a secondary complication. So you have an area that's injured, and the tissue dies, and then what happens with the brain tissue as it softens, it kind of starts breaking up, basically kind of turns to mush. So that's a secondary event after an injury such as the stroke. So you don't see encephalomalacia without something causing it.

Tr. p. 635, LL. 12-21. Dr. Wiggins also explained:

Everybody's brain is different, but the fact that we saw -- that you see continued deterioration of her brain is very worrisome for damaging not only that area but areas around it as well. So basically there are areas that are changing.

Well, it shows that her brain was continuing to deteriorate, so she had the stroke, and that was the one-time injury to her brain, but the area that was damaged continued to change over time, so I think that that fits with the clinical picture that we saw, the deterioration.

Tr. p. 635, LL. 21 - 636, LL. 18 (emphasis added).

The CT report referenced in Exhibits K and L was also in the trial record prior to Dr. Wiggins' testimony on redirect. Exh. 5, SLMV5214-15. This report uses the same verbiage about 'progression' and 'changes' as Dr. Wiggins with respect to the encephalomalacia:

Progression of encephalomalacia involving the left frontal and adjacent parietal region as seen on the CT of December 25, 2013 and MRI report of December 27, 2013.

Impression: *Encephalomalacia changes* involving mostly the left frontal lobe region, correlating to the area of previous venous gas distribution and area venous infarct.

Ex. 5, SLMV5214 (emphasis added).

f. St. Luke's cannot claim surprise or prejudice because it first introduced the evidence of the encephalomalacia to the jury through Defense Exhibits K and L during the cross-examination of Dr. Wiggins

St. Luke's, in support of its cross examination, introduced and then referenced medical records in Defense Exhibits K and L. Tr. p. 621. From the very start of the cross examination, counsel for St. Luke's asked Dr. Wiggins about the records contained in the exhibits and whether she agrees with the assessments therein. *Id.* The approach was obviously intended to challenge

Dr. Wiggins' testimony elicited on direct.

The problem for St. Luke's with its cross-examination strategy is that its own records reflect that the "chief complaint" for the admission was "stroke." Exh. 5, p. SLMV5223. The portions of the records contained in Exhibits K and L are also replete with references to the encephalomalacia diagnosis. In fact, the encephalomalacia is a major component of Mrs. Herrett's treatment at St. Luke's during the September 2014 admission and mentioned in almost every hospital physician's note, including Dr. Wiggins'. Exh. 5, SLMV5214.

For example, St. Luke's Exhibit K, referenced in the portion of the transcript cited above, mentions the diagnosis in three separate inpatient progress notes by Dr. Timothy Enders. "The patient also has *encephalomalacia* in the left frontal lobe region as a result of her unfortunate air embolic stroke." Exh. K, p. 20 (emphasis added). "...[l]eft frontal *encephalomalacia* according to her most recent CT scan." *Id.* (emphasis added).

Unmentioned by St. Luke's in this appeal is that Dr. Ender's notes in Exhibit K also specifically discusses the encephalomalacia in relation to her stroke and the metabolic encephalopathy brought up by St. Luke's counsel on cross examination.⁴ The note reads:

ASSESSMENT AND PLAN

1. Metabolic encephalopathy. This is improved to grade 1. The patient is awake and alert to person, place and time; however, she is having some psychotic

BY MS. FOUSER:

Q. So if we start with K17, there's another doctor who was caring for her, Dr. Timothy Enders, correct?

Q. And if we look through his assessments when she was in the hospital, he thought she had metabolic -- one of the assessments was metabolic encephalopathy, correct?

Q. Okay. And then -- so it was potentially multifactorial, correct?

Q. Okay. So there could be a lot of reasons that she's there, there could be several reasons that she's having the symptoms that she's having, fair?

⁴ In fact, the very first 'alternative diagnosis' raised in the cross exam is, according to the exhibit, related to the stroke as well:

A. Yes, ma'am.

A. That's what he's saying.

A. Yes, ma'am.

A. Yes, ma'am. (...)

Tr. p. 622, LL. 22 - p. 623, LL 10.

features. This is likely related to her frontotemporal stroke....

5. Cerebrovascular accident with residual right sided hemiparesis and spasticity. The patient has *left frontal encephalomalacia* according to her most recent CT scan. *This encephalomalacia is likely the major contributor to #1*.

Exh. K, p. 22 (emphasis added).

Dr. Ender's transfer summary, also part of Exhibit K, supports Dr. Wiggins and states:

PROCEDURES: The patient has a CT of the head obtained on 09/14/14 showing encephalomalacia changes involving mostly the left frontal lobe region, correlating to the area of previous venous gas distribution and area of venous infarct. No associated new parenchymal hemorrhage. No new areas of encephalomalacia or edema. No hydrocephalus or midline shift.

HOSPITAL COURSE: ... The patient was admitted as a result of mental status changes and weight loss. ... Unfortunately, the patient has developed some paranoid type of delusions. There is concern that this correlates with the encephalomalacia located at the left frontal lobe region.

Exh. K, p. 24 (emphasis added). The same is true for St. Luke's Exhibit L which contains physician evaluations by another St. Luke's physiatrist, Jonathan Myers. On the very first page it states:

The head CT showed *encephalomalacia of the left frontal lobe* but no new hemorrhages and no new areas of edema or acute stroke. She was seen in consultation by Dr. Wiggins over the weekend, who felt that she warranted admission to acute inpatient rehabilitation.

Exh. L, p. 1 (emphasis added).

The encephalomalacia diagnosis is found again and again in separate notes by Dr. Myers contained in Exhibit L. Exh. L, p. 29, p. 38, p. 31. However, these portions of the exhibit and that diagnosis were not highlighted or asked about during the cross-examination of Dr. Wiggins. St. Luke's is presumed to know the content of its own records. It was not reasonably anticipated that St. Luke's would attempt to argue its defense by ignoring the "chief complaint" or significance of "encephalomalacia" in the medical records it was using as support. When they did, it is axiomatic

that Dr. Wiggins should be allowed to defend her answers on redirect and only fitting that she used information in St. Luke's own records to do it.

g. St. Luke's cannot claim unfair surprise or prejudice because it "opened the door" to this line of inquiry on cross-examination

Even assuming *arguendo* that encephalomalacia was not properly disclosed as part of Dr. Wiggins' testimony, the Court is not precluded from allowing a witness to comment on the records introduced by St. Luke's - as it did in this case. "Although the principal is not set forth in the rules of evidence, the proposition is generally accepted and frequently applied that a party cannot object to inadmissible matters where they are opened up by the objecting party. This principal is variously described as 'opening the door' or 'invited error.'" Lewis, Craig D., IDAHO TRIAL HANDBOOK, p. 294 (1995). "The 'invited error' doctrine also applies where otherwise objectionable matter surfaces in response to counsel's own questions, and to matters offered to rebut in areas first opened up by one's opponent." *Id*.

During its cross-examination of Dr. Wiggins, St. Luke's counsel asked about other medical conditions of Mrs. Herrett documented in her records without reference to the "chief complaint" or encephalomalacia. Tr. p. 598, LL. 22, p. 627, LL. 14.

"It is usually a basic function of redirect examination to allow a witness to explain his testimony elicited on cross-examination." Sanville v. State, 593 P.2d 1340, 1344 (Wyo. 1979), citing State v. Price, 513 S.W.2d 392 (Mo. 1974); People v. Wesley, 18 Ill.2d 138, 163 N.E.2d 500 (Ill. 1959); State v. Lillian, 180 Kan. 640, 305 P.2d 828 (Kan. 1957). "The opening of the door concept, however, reaches further and is an extension of that familiar rule. Succinctly stated, the "opening the door" rule is that a party who in some way permits the trial judge to let down the gates to a field of inquiry that is not competent but relevant cannot complain if his adversary is also allowed to avail himself of the opening within its scope." Id., Hobbs v. Ada County, 93 Idaho 443, 462 P.2d 742 (1969); U. S. v. Geller, 481 F.2d 275, 276 (9th Cir. 1973).

Any claim of unfair surprise or prejudice rings hollow as it was St. Luke's that "opened the door" to this line of inquiry by its cross-examination of Dr. Wiggins.

h. Any error in admitting the testimony of Dr. Wiggins regarding encephalomalacia is harmless error

I.R.E. 103(a) provides that "[e]rror may not be predicated upon a ruling which admits or excludes evidence unless a substantial right of the party is affected." Similarly, I.R.C.P. 61 provides that "[t]he court at every stage of the proceeding must disregard any error or defect in the proceeding which does not affect the substantial rights of the parties." This Court has repeatedly stated that "[i]ssues on appeal are not considered unless they are properly supported by both authority and argument." H.F.L.P., LLC v. City of Twin Falls, 157 Idaho 672, 686–87, 339 P.3d 557, 571–72 (2014), citing Gem State Ins. Co. v. Hutchison, 145 Idaho 10, 16, 175 P.3d 172, 178 (2007). "[A] party's failure to present some argument as to how the evidentiary ruling affected a substantial right is fatal to its evidentiary challenge and the Court deems the issue waived. Id., citing Hurtado v. Land O'Lakes, Inc., 153 Idaho 13, 18, 278 P.3d 415, 420 (2012). Because an appellant can only prevail if the claimed error affected a substantial right, the appellant must present some argument that a substantial right was implicated." Id.

Thus, "when appealing from an evidentiary ruling reviewed for abuse of discretion, the appellant must demonstrate *both* the trial court's abuse of discretion and that the error affected a substantial right." *Id.*, *citing Hurtado v. Land O'Lakes, Inc.*, 153 Idaho 13, 18, 278 P.3d 415, 420 (2012), see also Goodspeed v. Shippen, 154 Idaho 866, 870, 303 P.3d 225, 229 (2013); Akers v. D.L. White Const., Inc., 156 Idaho 37, 320 P.3d 428, 436 (2014).

The record is devoid of any evidence that the jury did not consider the correct measure of damages in this case. St. Luke's merely invites this Court to engage in alternative fact-finding

rather than offer any proof of prejudice.⁵ The record below is replete with evidence that Mrs. Herrett was completely debilitated by her stroke and that it necessitated her return to the hospital in September 2014.

St. Luke's ignored that its own expert, Dr. Cox, testified that Mrs. Herrett suffered a terrible, catastrophic injury and would need in-home care for the rest of her life. Tr. p. 917, LL. 12-21. Dr. Cox opined that the stroke deprived Mrs. Herrett of five years of life. Tr. p. 1057, LL. 6 – p. 1058, LL. 8. St. Luke's has completely failed to demonstrate how the admission of Dr. Wiggins' testimony or the Court's refusal to grant a mistrial violated a substantial right. It points to no prejudice in admitting the testimony of Dr. Wiggins with respect to liability or the jury's finding of recklessness. St. Luke's fails to demonstrate any link between the presumably offensive testimony and the damages – economic or non-economic – in this case.

i. St. Lukes' has not correctly assigned error to the Trial Courts' evidentiary ruling admitting the encephalomalacia testimony by Dr. Wiggins and thus has waived that issue

As part of its argument on the mistrial issue, St. Luke's argues that the Trial Court failed to apply the proper legal standards in admitting Dr. Wiggins' redirect testimony the Friday before. App. Brief, 16. The arguments purportedly address the mistrial issue, but misstate and then challenge the Court's prior evidentiary ruling. Idaho App. R. 35(a)(6) states "The argument shall contain the contentions of the appellant with respect to the issues presented on appeal, the reasons therefor, with citations to authorities, statutes and parts of the transcript and the record relied upon."

As a threshold issue then, the Trial Court's decision to allow that evidence into the record in the first instance was not raised as an issue on appeal and thus is waived. "Where an appellant

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF - 22

⁵ It must also be noted that St. Luke's failed to file a post-trial motion asking the district court to rule that the non-economic awards were excessive. St. Luke's does not even attempt to argue excessiveness on appeal.

fails to assert his assignments of error with particularity and to support his position with sufficient authority, those assignments of error are too indefinite to be heard by the Court." *Bach v. Bagley*, 148 Idaho 784, 790, 229 P.3d 1146, 1152 (2010), citing Randall v. Ganz, 96 Idaho 785, 788, 537 P.2d 65, 68 (1975). "This Court will not search the record on appeal for error." *Id. Citing Suits v. Idaho Bd. of Prof'l Discipline*, 138 Idaho 397, 400, 64 P.3d 323, 326 (2003). Consequently, to the extent that an assignment of error is not argued and supported in compliance with the I.A.R., it is deemed to be waived. *Suitts v. Nix*, 141 Idaho 706, 708, 117 P.3d 120, 122 (2005).

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